IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

BARBARA ANN CLAYTON,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MAUREEN M. CYR Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. **SUMMARY OF APPEAL**

After a thorough evaluation, a psychologist concluded that Barbara Clayton shot her boyfriend while she was in a temporary psychotic state and was unable to perceive the nature and quality of her actions or tell right from wrong in relation to them. Ms. Clayton became psychotic as a result of her mental illness and her extreme fear of her boyfriend, which arose from the serious and repeated assaults he had inflicted upon her. Yet at the jury trial, the court did not allow the psychologist to testify about the details of the prior assaults, despite their importance to his opinion. Also, the court did not permit the defense to introduce statements Ms. Clayton made soon after the shooting, despite their relevance in establishing her state of mind. Finally, the court did not permit defense counsel to impeach a prosecution witness with her prior inconsistent statements about Ms. Clayton's apparent mental state. As a result of these erroneous rulings, Ms. Clayton was denied her constitutional rights to confront the witnesses and present a full insanity defense.

In addition, (1) Ms. Clayton's constitutional right to be free from double jeopardy was violated when the trial court refused to vacate one of her murder convictions; and (2) the sentence of life without the possibility of parole based on prior convictions that were not proven to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt violated Ms. Clayton's rights to due process and equal protection of the law.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court abused its discretion and violated Ms.

 Clayton's right to present a full defense when it refused to permit her expert to testify about the basis of his opinion, which included details of the serious abuse Ms. Clayton suffered at the hands of her boyfriend.
- 2. The trial court abused its discretion and violated Ms. Clayton's right to present a full defense when it excluded the statements Ms. Clayton made at the hospital following her arrest.
- 3. The trial court abused its discretion and violated Ms. Clayton's right to confront the witnesses when it refused to permit defense counsel to impeach a prosecution witness with her prior inconsistent statements.
- 4. The trial court's refusal to vacate one of the murder convictions violated Ms. Clayton's constitutional right to be free from double jeopardy.
- 5. The sentence of life without the possibility of parole based on prior convictions that were not proven to a jury beyond a reasonable

doubt violated Ms. Clayton's constitutional rights to due process and equal protection of the law.

C. <u>ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

- 1. Few rights are more fundamental than an accused person's right to present a full defense to a criminal charge. A trial court may not exclude evidence relevant to an asserted defense unless the State shows the evidence is so prejudicial that it will disrupt the fairness of the fact-finding process. If the evidence is highly probative, no state interest is sufficiently compelling to justify its exclusion. Did the trial court violate Ms. Clayton's right to present an insanity defense when it excluded information central to her expert's opinion that Ms. Clayton was insane at the time of the incident? Did the court violate Ms. Clayton's right to present a defense when it excluded statements she made soon after the incident which demonstrated her state of mind?
- 2. An accused's right to impeach a prosecution witness with evidence of a prior inconsistent statement is guaranteed by the constitutional right to confront witnesses. A witness may be impeached with extrinsic evidence of a prior out-of-court statement if the statement relates to a material fact and is inconsistent with the witness's testimony in court. Did the trial court violate Ms. Clayton's right to

confront the witnesses when it refused to allow defense counsel to impeach a prosecution witness with her prior inconsistent statement about Ms. Clayton's mental state, where Ms. Clayton's mental state was the central issue in the case?

- 3. When a criminal defendant is convicted twice for the same offense, the Double Jeopardy Clause requires the trial court to vacate one of the convictions. Here, Ms. Clayton was convicted twice for a single homicide. Did the court violate Ms. Clayton's right to be free from double jeopardy when it refused to vacate one of the convictions?
- 4. The right to due process of law encompasses the right to have any fact necessary to increase a defendant's maximum possible sentence be proved to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. Was Ms. Clayton's right to due process violated where the trial court increased her maximum possible sentence based solely on findings of prior convictions that were not proved to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt?
- 5. The Equal Protection Clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment and article I, section 12 of the Washington Constitution require that similarly situated people be treated the same with regard to the legitimate purpose of the law. With the purpose of punishing more harshly recidivist criminals, statutes authorize greater penalties for

specified offenses based on recidivism. However, in some instances prior convictions are treated as "elements" that must be proven to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt, and in other instances, they are treated as "sentencing factors" proven to a judge by a preponderance of the evidence. Where no rational basis exists for this arbitrary distinction and its effect is to deny some persons the protections of a jury trial and proof beyond a reasonable doubt, does it violate equal protection?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. The incident.

Barbara Clayton and Curtis Giffin had a romantic relationship and lived together for about seven years. 1/23/12RP 57. They lived in Mr. Giffin's home in Roy along with Ms. Clayton's young daughter, Shayna Clayton. 1/23/12RP 56-57.

At first, Ms. Clayton and Mr. Giffin got along well. 1/23/12RP 61. But in June 2010, Mr. Giffin met Keisha Montgomery-Joyner and the two quickly became romantic. 1/24/12RP 246. Mr. Giffin continued to live with Ms. Clayton while he was seeing Ms. Montgomery-Joyner. 1/23/12RP 62; 1/24/12RP 174, 178. Ms.

¹ Shayna was 14 years old at the time of trial. 1/23/12RP 56, 58.

Montgomery-Joyner became pregnant with Mr. Giffin's child in December 2010. 1/24/12RP 248.

Ms. Clayton was aware that Mr. Giffin was seeing Ms.

Montgomery-Joyner and had gotten her pregnant. 1/23/12RP 61-63;

1/24/12RP 174, 178. She was very upset about it. 1/23/12RP 62. She would often share her troubles with Shayna. 1/23/12RP 61, 63, 110.

She also shared her troubles with Mr. Giffin's grown-up daughter, Lea, who lived next door. 1/24/12RP 166, 219. Ms. Clayton would often go to Ms. Giffin's house crying and looking for consolation.

1/24/12RP 219-20, 241.

Ms. Clayton told Shayna she was afraid to leave Mr. Giffin because she felt she had nowhere else to go. 1/23/12RP 67. She told Shayna it was important to try to avoid making Mr. Giffin angry and gave her suggestions on how to do so. 1/23/12RP 106. Shayna tried to follow her mother's suggestions. 1/23/12RP 106. Ms. Clayton herself tried to avoid making Mr. Giffin angry but was only sometimes successful. 1/23/12RP 106.

Despite Ms. Clayton's efforts to appease Mr. Giffin, he would sometimes yell at her and beat her. 1/23/12RP 68, 107. The two argued more and more frequently about Mr. Giffin's relationship with

Ms. Montgomery-Joyner. 1/23/12RP 67; 1/24/12RP 178, 241. More than once, Shayna witnessed Mr. Giffin physically assault Ms. Clayton during these arguments. On one occasion, Mr. Giffin pushed Ms. Clayton on the couch, punched her and slapped her head. 1/23/12RP 68. He kicked her and left a bruise on her leg in the shape of a boot print. 1/23/12RP 102-03; 1/24/12RP 222. Another time, while Ms. Clayton was taking a bath, Mr. Giffin kicked down the bathroom door and pulled her out of the tub by her hair. 1/23/12RP 70, 107. She ran into the bedroom, where he punched her several times as she lay crying. 1/23/12RP 108. Still another time, Mr. Giffin pushed Ms. Clayton against a van and yelled at her. 1/23/12RP 105. Once, Shayna saw bruises on her mother's arm; it looked as though someone had punched her in the arm. 1/23/12RP 102-03. One night, Shayna and her mother spent the night in the ice cream truck that Ms. Clayton used for her business. 1/23/12RP 104. Ms. Clayton told Shayna that they had to sleep there. 1/23/12RP 104.

Shayna never saw her mother strike Mr. Giffin first. 1/23/12RP 70. If she struck him, it was only in response to his assaults. 1/23/12RP 71.

Shayna began to fear that eventually Mr. Giffin would seriously hurt her mother. 1/23/12RP 101. She had a "deep feeling" something bad was going to happen in the home. 1/23/12RP 102. Shayna began to spend every other weekend at a friend's house because she did not want to see anything bad happen to her mother. 1/23/12RP 109.

To add to Ms. Clayton's stress during this time, her other, adult, daughter Shanaha became seriously ill in late March 2011. 1/24/12RP 255-56. Shanaha spent one week in the hospital but the doctors did not know what was wrong with her. 1/24/12RP 276. Ms. Clayton visited Shanaha in the hospital every day and stayed at her house at night, taking care of Shanaha's two children. 1/24/12RP 256, 276. Ms. Clayton got very little sleep because Shanaha's children were very young—one was three years old and the other was only 13 months—and did not sleep through the night. 1/24/12RP 277. On April 1, Shanaha left the hospital against medical advice. 1/24/12RP 257, 276. Her mother disapproved and the two fought about it. 1/24/12RP 276.

That day, April 1, Ms. Clayton came home at around 5 p.m. 1/23/12RP 73. Shayna was at home in her bedroom and Mr. Giffin was in the bathroom, where he had just finished taking a shower. 1/23/12RP 73-74. Ms. Clayton went straight into the bathroom.

1/23/12RP 74. Later, she told Shayna she was upset because she had found information about Mr. Giffin's pregnant girlfriend on his cell phone. 1/23/12RP 77; 1/24/12RP 184.

Shayna heard Ms. Clayton and Mr. Giffin leave in separate cars. 1/23/12RP 75. The two drove, separately, to a nearby liquor store. 1/23/12RP 120. Joann Rardin was sitting in her car in the liquor store parking lot when she saw Mr. Giffin pull in, park, get out of his car, and walk to the door of the liquor store. 1/23/12RP 120. She saw Ms. Clayton come out of the store and approach Mr. Giffin, then move away; she did this several times. 1/23/12RP 120, 122, 124. Ms. Clayton was acting very erratically. 1/23/12RP 122. She went in and out of the store while yelling at Mr. Giffin. 1/23/12RP 129.

Ms. Rardin saw Mr. Giffin and Ms. Clayton get into their cars. 1/23/12RP 124. The two drove to a stop sign, where the nose of Ms. Clayton's car hit Mr. Giffin's car. 1/23/12RP 126. Ms. Clayton drove away. 1/23/12RP 126. Ms. Rardin called 911. 1/23/12RP 126.

Ms. Clayton went home, where she told Shayna to pack her things because they had to leave. 1/23/12RP 76. Ms. Clayton was very upset and Shayna could not get her to stop crying. 1/23/12RP 112-13. Ms. Clayton then left the house. 1/23/12RP 79.

Ms. Clayton went to Lea Giffin's house next door, upset and crying. 1/24/12RP 186, 243. She handed Lea Mr. Giffin's cell phone with the information about Ms. Montgomery-Joyner and said, "Here's the proof. Here's the proof." 1/24/12RP 184. Lea refused to look at the phone. 1/24/12RP 184. Her father had called her and told her he was with the police. 1/24/12RP 182, 186-87. Lea told Ms. Clayton, "this is over. The cops are coming." 1/24/12RP 185.

Ms. Clayton returned home. 1/23/12RP 80. She told Shayna she had gone to Lea's house asking for help but Lea said she did not care anymore. 1/23/12RP 80, 111. Shayna saw her mother put something black under the chair cushion in the living room. 1/23/12RP 80. Shayna asked what it was but her mother told her to go back to her room, which she did. 1/23/12RP 81-82.

Mr. Giffin came home about 10 minutes later. 1/23/12RP 82. Shayna could hear him arguing with her mother in the living room. 1/23/12RP 82-83. Shayna then heard a gunshot. 1/23/12RP 83. She ran out of her room and saw her mother shoot Mr. Giffin. 1/23/12RP 83-85. Mr. Giffin fell to the floor. 1/23/12RP 85.

Ms. Clayton told Shayna she was going to call the police as well as Shayna's sister, Shanaha, to have her come and get Shayna.

1/23/12RP 94. Ms. Clayton then went outside, saying she had to stay there until the police arrived. 1/23/12RP 97. She was only outside for about two minutes before coming back in. 1/23/12RP 113. She then began "going in and out" of the house erratically. 1/23/12RP 113. Shayna told her "she seemed like she had two heads." 1/23/12RP 113-14. She meant that her mother was acting as though she had "two personalities." 1/23/12RP 114. Her mother was acting "weird" in a way that Shayna had never seen before. 1/23/12RP 114.

Ms. Clayton called Shanaha to come and pick up Shayna. Shanaha testified her mother sounded "weird" and "like a demon" on the phone. 1/24/12RP 278. Like Shayna, Shanaha thought her mother was acting in a way she had never witnessed before. 1/24/12RP 278.

While she waited for the police to arrive, Ms. Clayton asked Shayna to bring her a bottle of Jack Daniels. 1/23/12RP 97. Shayna saw her mother drink a large quantity of it.² 1/23/12RP 97-98.

When police arrived, Ms. Clayton came out of the house with her hands in the air. 1/23/12RP 21. She was placed in handcuffs and escorted to a patrol car. 1/23/12RP 22, 33. As she waited to be taken to the precinct, police observed her emotions were like a "roller"

² There was no evidence that Ms. Clayton had been drinking before the incident. 1/25/12RP 411.

coaster." 1/23/12RP 40. She would be calm and quiet and then suddenly burst into tears. 1/23/12RP 38, 40. She seemed angry at times and blurted out, "I shot his ass dead," and, "He had this coming. This was five years in the making." 1/23/12RP 33, 36. The next moment she said she "needed her Curtis" and, "Why did you^[3] do this?" 1/23/12RP 39.

Police asked Ms. Clayton if she was injured and she said, "No. He never hits me where it shows." 1/24/12RP 317. She was too intoxicated to be booked into jail so police took her to a hospital, where she was treated for several hours before being transported back to jail. 12/02/11RP 58-60, 66.

At the hospital, Ms. Clayton blurted out several statements that were addressed to no one but were overheard by a police officer.

12/02/12RP 62-72. The statements demonstrated that Ms. Clayton was mentally preoccupied with Mr. Giffin's prior assaults. For instance, she said, "I was his Negro slave" and, "He picked up an axe and threw it at me" and, "I was so shocked when the imprint of one boot was left on my thigh. I've been beat up so bad." 12/02/11RP 71. After making

 $^{^{3}}$ The officer did not know who she meant by "you." 1/23/12RP 39.

other similar statements, she cried and thrashed about hysterically then quieted down and did not say anything more. 12/02/11RP 72.

2. The charges, insanity plea, and pretrial rulings.

The State charged Ms. Clayton with one count of premeditated first degree murder, RCW 9A.32.030(1)(a), and a separate count of second degree felony murder, RCW 9A.32.050(1)(b), with second degree assault as the underlying felony, for the single act of shooting Curtis Giffin.⁴ CP 6-7.

Ms. Clayton entered a plea of not guilty by reason of insanity. CP 26. She was examined by a psychologist, who concluded that she was in a temporary psychotic state at the time of the incident and could not tell right from wrong in relation to her actions. 1/03/12RP 50-51, 62; CP 61-62. According to the expert, she had entered that psychotic state due to her extreme fear of Mr. Giffin as a result of the prior assaults he had inflicted upon her, as well as her extreme fear of being abandoned by him. CP 61-63, 71.

⁴The State also charged firearm enhancements for both counts one and two and alleged the aggravating circumstance that the crime involved domestic violence and was committed within sight or sound of the victim's or the offender's minor child under the age of eighteen years. CP 6-7. In addition, the State charged one count of unlawful possession of a firearm and one count of second degree malicious mischief, for the damage allegedly caused to Mr. Giffin's car. CP 7-8.

Ms. Clayton described extreme acts of abuse inflicted by Mr. Giffin to the expert. 1/09/12RP 51-52; CP 61. For example, she said that one time Mr. Giffin struck her in the eye repeatedly, causing her to lose sight in the eye temporarily. CP 61. Another time, Mr. Giffin swung an axe at her. CP 61. She also described the incident witnessed by Shayna where Mr. Giffin dragged her out of the bathtub, naked, and repeatedly stomped on her and kicked her. CP 61; 1/09/12RP 51. The details of these incidents were essential to explain the basis for the expert's opinion that Ms. Clayton had entered a transient psychotic state. CP 61-62; 1/09/12RP 50-51.

The State moved to limit the expert's testimony about the prior assaults. 1/09/12RP 36, 41, 47. The court ruled the expert could not testify about specific instances of abuse by Mr. Giffin that Ms. Clayton described, despite the court's acknowledgement that the evidence was relevant to the insanity defense. CP 78; 1/09/12RP 99-103.

Also prior to trial, the defense moved to admit the statements Ms. Clayton had made at the hospital after her arrest which were overheard by the police officer, to show her state of mind. 1/09/12RP 84-86. The court excluded the evidence, reasoning that Ms. Clayton's state of mind at the hospital was not relevant to her insanity defense

because she had become intoxicated after the incident. 1/09/12RP 91-92. But incongruously, the court admitted, over defense objection, two photographs of Ms. Clayton taken by police at the precinct after her arrest. 1/23/12RP 44-50. The court ruled the photographs were relevant to show Ms. Clayton's state of mind. 1/23/12RP 48-49.

3. The trial.

The medical examiner testified that Mr. Giffin died as a result of multiple gunshot wounds. 1/25/12RP 424. Two of the shots entered his front and two entered his back. 1/25/12RP 458. The medical examiner could not say the order in which the wounds were inflicted. 1/25/12RP 458.

Joann Rardin testified about the incident she witnessed at the liquor store soon before the shooting. 1/23/12RP 116-32. At trial, Ms. Rardin was equivocal about her perceptions of Ms. Clayton's state of mind. Id. The trial court refused to permit defense counsel to introduce Ms. Rardin's statement to police made soon after the incident, in which she said that Ms. Clayton appeared afraid of Mr. Giffin and was trying to avoid him. 1/23/12RP 140-41.

The defense expert, Donald Dutton, testified that Ms. Clayton was in a "transient" psychotic state at the time of the incident and could

not perceive the nature and quality of her actions or tell right from wrong in relation to them. 1/30/12RP 496, 506, 530, 543, 548, 553, 620-21. Dr. Dutton diagnosed Ms. Clayton with borderline personality disorder. 1/30/12RP 485-86. A person in a transient psychotic state is delusional and has distorted thinking and beliefs. 1/30/12RP 497, 504, 523-24, 530, 543, 620, 633-34. Ms. Clayton's distorted thinking made her believe she could not get away from Mr. Giffin. 1/30/12RP 510, 519-21, 545-47. At the same time, she "catastrophized," that is, she exaggerated the threat that he posed to her. 1/30/12RP 517, 535, 565-66. She said she shot him because he came toward her and threatened her. 1/30/12RP 562. She thought she had to shoot him in order to be safe. 1/30/12RP 545-47, 559-60.

Dr. Dutton concluded Ms. Clayton entered the psychotic state as a result of her personality disorder, combined with the extreme stress and fear she was experiencing. On the one hand, she had an extreme fear of being abandoned by Mr. Giffin although she was also angry at him for cheating on her. 1/30/12RP 493-94, 504-06, 520-21, 602-03. On the other hand, she was extremely fearful of any further abuse by him. 1/30/12RP 494, 521, 565. These conflicted extremes of emotion were manifested in her chaotic and erratic behavior around the time of

the incident. 1/30/12RP 519-20. Her dire mental state was exacerbated by the stress she felt over Shanaha's illness and the fact she could no longer find comfort and help from Mr. Giffin's daughter, Lea. 1/30/12RP 516, 519. In sum, she had "spiraled upward" into a state of extreme panic, causing her to become psychotic. 1/30/12RP 519-20.

The State's experts also evaluated Ms. Clayton. 1/31/12RP 655-57. Although they agreed with Dr. Dutton that Ms. Clayton had a personality disorder, they did not agree that she was legally insane at the time of the incident. 1/31/12RP 679, 682-83.

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