COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

٧.

BARBARA ANN CLAYTON, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Frank E. Cuthbertson

No. 11-1-01404-7

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By
KATHLEEN PROCTOR
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 14811

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

relationships, her parenting history, financial hardship and homelessness, her perception of the victim as an argumentative and abusive alcoholic, the victim's violence in general terms, her recollection of the events of the day of the murder, and defendant's daughter's concerns about domestic violence between defendant and the victim, the psychological testing and the reasons for the defendant's acute fear of abandonment. IIRP 99-102. The court did grant in part the State's motion to preclude the defense expert from discussing specific instances of domestic violence between defendant and the victim related to him by either the defendant or her daughter as the court found the probative value outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice and confusion of the issues under ER 403. IIRP 99-104. The court made it clear, however, that this ruling was with regard to Dr. Dutton, and would not apply to a witness, such as the defendant or her daughter, who had firsthand knowledge of instances of domestic violence. IIRP 104-106.

After conclusion of the evidence, the State proposed, and the court gave, a lesser-degree jury instruction on the offense of intentional murder in the second degree on Count I. RP 644; CP 158–60. Defendant obtained instructions on the defense of insanity. CP 140-185. Although the jury could not reach agreement on the charge of murder in the first degree, they found defendant guilty of the lesser-degree offense of murder in the

-4 - Clayton.doc

second degree (intentional), felony murder in the second degree, unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree, and malicious mischief in the second degree. CP 186–90 (Verdict forms A–E). The jury also found affirmatively for the firearm enhancements and domestic violence aggravating factors on both the murder and felony murder charges. CP 191–94 (Special verdict forms).

Sentencing occurred on March 23, 2012. CP 257; 3/23/12 RP 1. Over defendant's objection, the court merged defendant's second-degree felony murder conviction with her second-degree murder conviction into a single count and imposed a single sentence. CP 246-48, 251-63; 3/23/12 RP 23-39. The court found that defendant had been previously convicted of two prior most serious offenses in Washington (a 1996 first degree robbery and a 2002 second degree assault) then sentenced defendant to life without the possibility of parole under the Persistent Offender Accountability Act (POAA) for the conviction of murder in the second degree. CP 251-63 (Judgment and sentence, paragraph 4.5); 3/23/12 RP 50-53. For defendant's conviction of unlawful possession of a firearm, the court sentenced defendant to 48 months in custody; defendant had an offender score of 4 with a standard range of 36–48 months. CP 251-63. Finally, for defendant's conviction of second-degree malicious mischief, the court sentenced defendant to 8 months in custody; defendant had an

offender score of 4 with a standard range of 3–8 months. *Id.* Defendant timely filed a notice of appeal on March 23, 2012. CP 264.

2. Facts

Defendant and her thirteen year-old daughter, S.C., lived with defendant's boyfriend, Curtis Giffen, in Mr. Giffen's mobile home in Roy, Washington. RP 57, RP 166. Mr. Giffen's adult daughter, Lea Giffen, lived down the road from the mobile home. RP 167, 176. Defendant and Mr. Giffen had been in a relationship for several years until April 1, 2011, when defendant shot Mr. Giffen six times, killing him. RP 60–61, 83–84.

Over the course of their relationship, defendant and Mr. Giffen had been involved in several instances of domestic violence with each other. RP 68–70, 101–08. Defendant's relationship with Mr. Giffen worsened in the months leading up to the shooting after Mr. Giffen announced that the status of their relationship was "open." RP 61, 174–75, 178. Mr. Giffen entered a sexual relationship with Keisha Montgomery-Joyner, which resulted in Ms. Montgomery-Joyner getting pregnant. RP 63, 246–48. Defendant became aware of this relationship when she discovered text messages between Ms. Montgomery-Joyner and Mr. Giffen on Mr. Giffen's phone. RP 62–63. During this time, defendant began to rely on Lea Giffen for emotional support. RP 177–79.

-6- Clayton.doc

On April 1, 2011, S.C. was sitting in her room when she heard Mr. Giffen return home from work in the afternoon. RP 73. A few hours later, defendant returned from visiting her other (adult) daughter at the hospital. RP 72–73. When S.C. went out to greet her mother, defendant ignored her and went straight to the bathroom where Mr. Giffen had just gotten out of the shower. RP 74. From there, defendant and Mr. Giffen left the home in their separate vehicles. RP 75.

Shortly thereafter Joann Rardin was waiting in her car at a liquor store in Yelm when she saw defendant and Mr. Giffen engage in an argument in the store's parking lot. RP 116, 122–26. Defendant was very angry and yelled in Mr. Giffen's face, "You got the fucking bitch pregnant. Now, you're going to marry her." RP 123. After a short period of backand-forth argument, defendant and Mr. Giffen returned to their separate vehicles and started to drive away. RP 126. As Mr. Giffen pulled up to the highway outside of the store, defendant rammed her vehicle into the driver side of his car. RP 126–27. Defendant backed up, looked around, and speeded away while Mr. Giffen remained at the scene. RP 126. Ms. Rardin called 911 to report the incident and officers arrived shortly thereafter to take Mr. Giffen's statement. RP 126–27.

Defendant returned to the mobile home, told S.C. that she had rammed Mr. Giffen's car, and instructed S.C. to pack their things because

- 7 - Clayton.doc

they were leaving. RP 76–78. Defendant also informed S.C. that Mr. Giffen had gotten another woman pregnant. RP 76–78. While S.C. packed her bag, defendant left to discuss the matter with Lea. RP 79–80.

When defendant arrived at Lea's home, defendant was upset and showed Lea Mr. Giffen's phone as proof that he had been seeing somebody else. RP 184–86. Lea, however, had wearied of hearing about defendant's relationship difficulties with her father and turned defendant away. RP 185. As defendant walked away she said that she was "going to fix this." RP 185.

Defendant returned to the mobile home, where S.C. saw defendant place a gun under a couch cushion in the living room. RP 80. Defendant then ordered S.C. to go to her bedroom. RP 81. Mr. Giffen returned about ten minutes later, entered the home, and began yelling at defendant because she had wrecked his car. RP 82. S.C. heard them go outside to look at the car. RP 83.

As defendant and Mr. Giffen reentered the home, S.C. heard a gunshot. RP 83. The gunshot was followed by Mr. Giffen yelling, "stop." RP 83. S.C. ran out of her room to see defendant standing near Mr. Giffen as he tried to cover a gunshot wound. RP 84. Mr. Giffen pleaded for defendant to stop, but defendant raised the gun and shot him again. RP 84–85. S.C. watched Mr. Giffen fall to the ground and lay there trying to

breath until he died. RP 86. Mr. Giffen suffered six gunshot wounds, which included five wounds through his torso. RP 429–46.

After the shooting, defendant told S.C. to go back to her room and to continue packing her things. RP 95. Defendant said she was going to call the police, and then call S.C.'s older sister to come and pick S.C. up. RP 94. Defendant told S.C. that she shot Mr. Giffen because of his relationship with Ms. Montgomery-Joyner. RP 94, 100. While speaking with her daughter on the phone, defendant said Mr. Giffen was a dog, told her daughter that he was dead, that she had shot him, and that she was going to write a story about him. RP 95, 260–61. After calling the police, defendant grabbed a bottle of Jack Daniels and drank nearly the entire bottle. RP 97. S.C. watched defendant drink the bottle and vomit before S.C. returned to her room to pack and pray. RP 98.

Law enforcement officers arrived at the scene and defendant turned herself in. RP 18–21. They found Mr. Giffen's body on the ground and a loaded pistol on a coffee table next to his body. RP 27–28. Deputy Brian Heimann of the Pierce County Sheriff's Department read defendant her rights and arrested her, after which she refused to answer any questions. RP 31–32. However, while walking to and waiting in the patrol car, defendant volunteered the following statements: "I shot his ass dead,"

-9 - Clayton.doc

"He got what he had fucking coming," "He had this coming. This was five years in the making," and "I should have done this sooner." RP 33-37.

Deputies cleared the house and found S.C. sitting on her bed. RP 150. They also discovered several shell casings near Mr. Giffen's body. RP 152. As part of the investigation, they discovered defendant's journal, which contained an entry that reflected that defendant was contemplating "the hurt she would cause to her family by her actions." RP 324. When detectives tried interviewing defendant at the jail, she was too inebriated to consciously communicate. RP 308, 404.

Defendant did not testify at trial, but asserted an insanity defense. Doctor Donald Dutton of the psychology department from the University of British Columbia, who defendant retained as an expert witness, testified that defendant suffered from borderline personality—a condition whereby a person might enter a transient psychotic state and lose the ability to comprehend the rightfulness of his or her actions. RP 487, 494–99. Dr. Dutton opined that defendant, after being rejected by Lea for help, entered such a psychotic state and thereafter killed Mr. Giffen without understanding the wrongfulness of her actions. RP 506.

However, Doctors Carl Redick and Melissa Dannelet—
psychologists from Western State Hospital—testified to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that defendant was not incapacitated by

insanity when she committed the crime, and that she was not unable to appreciate the nature and quality of her actions. RP 679, 708.

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>.

1. DEFENDANT HAS FAILED TO SHOW THAT THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN MAKING ANY OF THE EVIDENTIARY RULINGS THAT ARE CHALLENGED ON APPEAL.

The admission or exclusion of relevant evidence is within the discretion of the trial court. *State v. Swan*, 114 Wn.2d 613, 658, 700 P.2d 610 (1990); *State v. Rehak*, 67 Wn. App. 157, 162, *review denied*, 120 Wn.2d 1022 (1992). A party objecting to the admission of evidence must make a timely and specific objection in the trial court. ER 103; *State v. Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d 412, 421, 705 P.2d 1182 (1985). Failure to object precludes raising the issue on appeal. *Guloy*, 104 Wn.2d at 421. *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Posey*, 161 Wn.2d 638, 648, 167 P.3d 560 (2007). A trial court abuses its discretion when it bases its decision on manifestly unreasonable or untenable grounds. *State v. Powell*, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995). The trial court's decision should be overturned only when no reasonable person could adopt the view of the trial court. *Posey*, 161 Wn.2d at 648.

Under ER 401, evidence is relevant if it has "any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable that it would be without the evidence." ER 401. Such evidence is admissible unless, under ER 403, the evidence is prejudicial so as to substantially outweigh its probative value, confuse the issues, mislead the jury, or cause any undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.

A defendant may only appeal a non-constitutional issue on the same grounds that he or she objected on below. *State v. Thetford*, 109 Wn.2d 392, 397, 745 P.2d 496 (1987); *State v. Hettich*, 70 Wn. App. 586, 592, 854 P.2d 1112 (1993).

A defendant has a constitutional right to present a defense consisting of relevant evidence that is not otherwise inadmissible. *State v. Rehak*, 67 Wn. App. 157, 162, *review denied*, 120 Wn.2d 1022 (1992); *In re Twining*, 77 Wn. App. 882, 893, 894 P.2d 1331, *review denied*, 127 Wn.2d 1018 (1995). The right to present evidence is not absolute, however, and must yield to a state's legitimate interest in excluding inherently unreliable testimony. *Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284, 93 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L. Ed. 2d 297 (1973); *State v. Baird*, 83 Wn. App. 477, 482, 922 P.2d 157 (1996), *review denied*, 131 Wn.2d 1012 (1997). Limitations on the right to introduce evidence are not unconstitutional

unless they affect fundamental principles of justice. *Montana v. Engelhoff*, 518 U.S. 37, 116 S. Ct. 2013, 2017, 135 L. Ed. 2d 361 (1996)
(stating that the "accused does not have an unfettered right to offer [evidence] that is incompetent, privileged, or otherwise inadmissible under standard rules of evidence" (quoting *Taylor v. Illinois*, 484 U.S. 400, 410, 108 S. Ct. 646, 653, 98 L. Ed. 2d 798 (1988)). Similarly, the Supreme Court has stated that the defendant's right to present relevant evidence may be limited by compelling government purposes. *State v. Hudlow*, 99 Wn.2d 1, 16, 659 P.2d 514 (1983) (discussing Washington's rape shield law). An appellate court reviews a claim of a denial of the Sixth Amendment right to present a defense de novo. *State v. Jones*, 168 Wn.2d 713, 719, 230 P.3d 576 (2010).

In the case now before the court, defendant asserts the trial court made several errors in the exclusion of evidence. Defendant alleges that her due process right to present a defense and confrontation rights were violated by the exclusion of the following evidence: (1) precluding the defense expert from relating *details* of alleged domestic violence disclosed to him by defendant during the course of his mental evaluation of defendant, (2) precluding the defense from adducing the content of statements the defendant made after her arrest while at a hospital, and (3)

- 13 - Clayton.doc

not allowing the defendant to impeach a witness with extrinsic evidence of allegedly prior inconsistent statements. Brief of Appellant at 2, 18–30.

a. <u>Defendant failed to properly preserve some</u>
of his claims of improperly excluded
evidence by failing to make the required
offer of proof setting forth the content of the
evidence.

Under ER 103(a)(2), error may not be asserted based upon a ruling that excludes evidence unless a substantial right of the party is affected, and the substance of the evidence was made known to the court by offer of proof or was apparent from the context of the record. "An offer of proof serves three purposes: it informs the court of the legal theory under which the offered evidence is admissible; it informs the judge of the specific nature of the offered evidence so that the court can assess its admissibility; and it creates a record adequate for review." *State v. Ray*, 116 Wn.2d 531, 538, 806 P.2d 1220 (1991). The party offering the evidence has the duty to make clear to the trial court: 1) what it is that he offers in proof; and, 2) the reason why he deems the offer admissible over the objections of his opponent, so that the court may make an informed ruling. *Ray*, 116 Wn.2d at 539, *citing Mad River Orchard Co. v. Krack Corp.*, 89 Wn.2d 535, 537, 573 P.2d 796 (1978).

- 14 - Clayton.doc

On appeal, defendant assigns error to the trial court's exclusion of certain evidence, but she fails to identify where in the record she made an offer of proof to establish the scope and content of the evidence she claims was improperly excluded. The State has been unable to locate any offer of proof by the defendant in the verbatim report of proceedings.

The content of some of the statements the defendant made while in the hospital was established during the CrR 3.5 hearing and others were set forth in defnse briefing. 12/02/11 RP 62-72; CP 60-76. But there is nothing in the record to establish how the court's ruling impacted the expert's testimony, if at all, or what the evidence would have been regarding the allegedly inconsistent prior statements.

As such defendant failed to preserve these issues for appellate review and this court lacks the proper record necessary to engage in any sort of review. It is impossible to know the nature of the excluded evidence or its relative importance. These claims have not been properly preserved for appellate review and should be summarily dismissed.

- 15 - Clayton.doc

b. The trial court properly precluded the defendant's expert witness from testifying to the details of hearsay statements defendant made to him regarding domestic violence because they would have been misleading and confusing to the trier of fact.

The record before this court shows that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in precluding the expert for relating the details of out of court statements describing domestic violence incidences. Rules 703 and 705 of the rules of evidence control the admission of facts or data that an expert witness relies upon to establish an opinion. Under ER 703:

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